# RECEIVED

03-02-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 2014AP2977

# STATE EX REL., ROCKIE L. DOUGLAS, PETITIONER-APPELLANT,

-VS-

BRIAN HAYES, ADMINISTRATOR, DIVISION OF HEARINGS AND APPEALS, AND EDWARD F. WALL, SECRETARY, DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, OFFICE OF LEGAL COUNSEL,

**RESPONDENTS-RESPONDENTS.** 

ON APPEAL FROM A NOVEMBER 4, 2014, CIRCUIT COURT ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI AND AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE DIVISION OF HEARINGS AND APPEALS THAT REVOKED PETITIONER'S PROBATION, THE HONORABLE DAVID M. BASTIANELLI, PRESIDING. KENOSHA COUNTY CASE NO. 2014CV705

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER THE DIVISION OF HEARINGS AND APPEALS ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN REVOKING ROCKIE DOUGLAS'S PROBATION FOR HIS REFUSAL TO ANSWER HIS AGENT'S QUESTIONS WHEN THE IMMUNITY THAT HIS AGENT OFFERED HIM IN EXCHANGE FOR HIS COMPELLED, INCRIMINATING STATEMENTS WAS NOT COEXTENSIVE WITH HIS FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT, AND THUS HIS REFUSAL TO GIVE SUCH A STATEMENT WAS NOT A VIOLATION FOR WHICH HE COULD BE REVOKED?

While on probation, Douglas was arrested on suspicion of involvement in criminal activity in Wisconsin and Illinois. (R.6:41-42.) His probation agent visited him in jail, questioned him about that criminal activity, and ordered him to make a statement. (Id.:52; A.Ap. 3.) Douglas's agent read him the immunity language atop the standard DOC form used for taking statements from probationers. (Id.) That language informed Douglas that only the content of his statements would be immunized from later use in a criminal proceeding. (See id:25 (statement form); A.Ap. 12.) Douglas was not informed that any evidence derived from his statements would likewise be immunized (id.:25, 52; A.Ap. 3, 12), which state and federal law have previously recognized as necessary to protect a probationer's Fifth Amendment rights, see State ex rel. Tate v. Schwarz, 2002 WI 127, ¶ 4, 257 Wis. 2d 40, 654 N.W.2d 438 (probationer must be "offered the protection of use and derivative use immunity"). Douglas refused to speak.

Revocation proceedings were commenced (see *id*.:3), and an administrative law judge ordered Douglas's probation revoked solely because he refused to give a statement to his agent upon her demand (*id*.:52; A.Ap.3). The Division of Hearings and Appeals administrator affirmed that decision. (*Id*.:66-67; A.Ap. 5-6.) The circuit court affirmed the administrator's

decision and denied Douglas's petition for a writ of certiorari. (R.12; A.Ap.7-11.) The circuit court concluded that no constitutional violation occurred because Douglas's probation agent had "informed [him] that his statement to her could not be used in the criminal proceedings." (*Id*.:4; A.Ap. 10.)

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Douglas would welcome oral argument if it would assist the panel to understand the issue presented or answer any unanswered questions that may arise, unbeknownst to counsel, during the panel's review of the briefing.

Douglas believes that the Court's opinion in the instant case will meet the criteria for publication.

He argues herein that his agent's offer of immunity in exchange for his compelled. incriminating statements was not coextensive with the protections to which he is entitled by the Fifth Amendment. Namely, he argues that his agent offered him only use immunity and not derivative use immunity. However, state and federal law requires that probationers be granted both use and derivative immunity exchange for compelled. use in incriminating statements to their agents.

Whereas Douglas's agent offered him immunity by reading the Department of Corrections' standard form for that purpose. Douglas effectively contends the DOC's standard language that offering probationers immunity is insufficient to grant the scope of immunity to which probationers are constitutionally entitled. That is to say, insofar as the standard DOC language does not offer probationers derivative use immunity for the contents of their statements, the grant of immunity that it extends is not sufficient to protect a probationer's Fifth Amendment rights. Thus, it is argued, it is a violation

of a probationer's Fifth Amendment rights to be revoked for refusing to give a statement after having been read the standard DOC language.

No published case in Wisconsin has addressed whether the scope of immunity granted by the DOC's standard language is consistent with relevant law and sufficient to protect a probationer's Fifth Amendment rights. Publication is therefore warranted.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# I. NATURE, PROCEDURAL STATUS, AND DISPOSITION BELOW

This appeal follows administrative and circuit court proceedings regarding the revocation of Rockie Douglas's probation. (*See* R.1, R.6.) Douglas was originally sentenced to seven-and-a-half years of probation by the Kenosha County Circuit Court on April 5, 2007. (R.6:15-21.)

In early 2014, the Wisconsin Department of Corrections (DOC) commenced revocation of Douglas's probation, alleging thirteen violations of his rules of community supervision. (R.6:40.) Following а revocation hearing, an administrative law judge (ALJ) with the Division of Hearings and Appeals (DHA) found only one violation: Douglas had refused to give a statement to his agent. (Id.:52, A.Ap. 3.) The ALJ refusal determined that Douglas's warranted revocation. (Id.) Douglas appealed the ALJ's decision to the DHA administrator. (Id.:59-60.) The revocation decision was sustained. (Id.:66-67; A.Ap. 5-6.)

Douglas subsequently sought, by petition for a writ of certiorari, circuit court review of the agency's decision to revoke his probation. (R.1.) Following briefing (R.8, R.9, R.10), the circuit court upheld the revocation decision (R.12; A.Ap. 7-11.). Douglas appealed. (R.13.)

## II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

There are two criminal cases underlying this civil appeal: Kenosha County cases 2004CF1181 and 2004CF1260. (R.6:15, 19.) In 2007,Douglas simultaneously received the same probationary sentence in both cases. (Id.) He thereafter signed a set of rules that governed his probation. (Id.:23.) Amongst other things, those rules mandated that Douglas (1) "inform [his] agent of [his] whereabouts and activities as he/she direct[ed]," (2) "provide true and correct information verbally and in writing in response to inquiries by [his] agent," and (3) "submit . . . any other ... relevant information as directed by [his] agent," (*Id.*); see also Wis. Admin. Code §§ DOC 328.04(3)(e), (f), (p) (administrative provisions establishing those rules as amongst "[s]tandard rules" of community supervision). A statement atop Douglas's rules informed him that his "probation . . . may be revoked if [he] . . . violate[d] any of [those] rules." (R.6:23.)

Six-and-a-half years later in late 2013, Douglas was taken into custody following his suspected involvement in a spate of criminal activity occurring in Wisconsin and Illinois. (*Id*.:41-42.) DOC Agent Shannon Kloss visited Douglas in jail and asked him to provide a statement. (*Id*.:25, 52, 90; A.Ap. 3, 12.) He refused. (*Id*.)

According to Agent Kloss, Douglas had "promised his family that he would not give a statement until they got an attorney and he talked to his attorney." (*Id.*:90; see also id.:52; A.Ap. 3.) In response, Agent Kloss "stress[ed] that nothing [Douglas] said would be used against him criminally," and she "t[old] him it was a violation not to give a statement." (*Id.*:91; see also id.:52; A.Ap. 3.) To explain the immunity that she was offering in exchange for Douglas's statement, Agent Kloss read the following language to Douglas, which appears on the standard DOC statement form (DOC-1305):

#### PROBATIONER/PAROLE/EXTENDED

SUPERVISION/OFFENDER I have been advised that I must account in a truthful and accurate manner for my whereabouts and activities, and that failure to do so is a violation for which I could be revoked. I have also been advised that none of this information can be used against me in criminal proceedings.

(*Id*.:25, 52; A.Ap. 3, 12.) Douglas nonetheless refused to talk. (*Id*.:52, A.Ap. 3.) Agent Kloss "said that was fine." (*Id*.:90.)

Despite telling Douglas that his refusal to speak with her was "fine," Agent Kloss later incorporated his refusal as an alleged rule violation justifying the revocation of his probation. (*Id*.:40.) In addition to the refusal, Agent Kloss alleged twelve other violations for both criminal and non-criminal acts. (*Id*.) Many of those allegations involved purported criminal acts occurring in Illinois. (*Id*.) Douglas contested revocation. (*See id*.:3.)

Agent Kloss was the only witness at the revocation hearing. (Id.:82.) She testified regarding Douglas's refusal to provide a statement and the other alleged violations. (Id.:87-96.) However, Agent Kloss was unable to produce significant evidence regarding those other violations—she relied on the contents of a criminal complaint and a news story naming Douglas as a suspect. (Id.)

The ALJ found that Agent Kloss could prove only one violation: "Mr. Douglas refused to give a written (or verbal) statement to the Department on January 10, 2014 concerning the events the Department of Corrections was attempting to investigate as part of this revocation proceeding." (*Id*.:52; A.Ap. 3.) Douglas's refusal had come even though Agent Kloss read to him "the Thompson Warning at the top of the statement form" and "stressed that nothing he told her could be used against him in criminal court and that was a violation not to give a statement." (*Id.*) That single violation was enough to warrant revocation. (*Id.*)

Douglas appealed to the DHA administrator. (*Id*.:59-60.) He argued that it was error for the ALJ to have revoked him for refusing to give a statement to his agent on January 10, 2014. (*Id*.) The revocation decision was sustained. (*Id*.:67; A.Ap. 5.) According to the administrator, Douglas's refusal to give a statement upon demand was inconsistent with the concept of supervision, and revocation was an appropriate remedy. (*Id*.:66-67; A.Ap. 5-6.)

Douglas thereafter commenced circuit court review, filing a petition for a writ of certiorari. (R.1.) The parties filed briefs. (R.8, R.9, R.10.) Douglas argued that he had a Fifth Amendment right to refuse to give a statement. (R.8:2.) He claimed that the immunity extended by Agent Kloss in exchange for abandoning his Fifth Amendment rights was insufficient to ensure that his rights were protected. (*Id.*) The State responded that the immunities granted to Douglas were sufficient. (R.9:2.)

The circuit court affirmed. (R.12; A.Ap. 7-11.) Relying on *State v. Evans*<sup>1</sup>, the court concluded that there was no error in revoking Douglas's probation because his agent had made him aware that the "statements of his whereabouts could not have been used in court on the new charges." (*Id.*:4; A.Ap. 10.)

Douglas appealed. (R.13.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 77 Wis. 2d 225, 252 N.W.2d 664 (1977).

### ARGUMENT

### I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Douglas argues herein that he validly exercised his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent, and thus that the revocation of his probation was contrary to law. See State ex rel. Tate v. Schwarz, 2002 WI 127, ¶ 4, 257 Wis. 2d 40, 654 N.W.2d 438 (revocation "premised on a legitimate assertion of [probationer's] Fifth Amendment privilege . . . [is] unconstitutional"). Specifically, he contends that the scope of the immunity offered to him by his probation agent was not equal to the immunity to which he is entitled under the Fifth Amendment, as recognized by state and federal law. See State v. Spaeth, 2012 WI 95, ¶ 36, 343 Wis. 2d 220, 819 N.W.2d 769 (quoting Kastigar v. United States, 406 U.S. 441, 453 (1972), for proposition that "immunity from use and derivative use is coextensive with the scope of the privilege against selfincrimination"). Instead of offering Douglas both use and derivative use immunity in exchange for his compelled, incriminating statements, his agent offered him only use immunity. (See R.6:52; A.Ap. 3.) Specifically, Agent Kloss "stressed that nothing he told her could be used against him in criminal court." (Id.) However, Agent Kloss made no offer to immunize whatever evidence may have been derived from his statement. (See id.)

Insofar as the Fifth Amendment requires that a probationer receive both use and derivative use immunity, Douglas properly remained silent upon his agent's offer of only use immunity. See Tate, 2002 WI 127, ¶ 4 (probationer must be "offered the protection of use and derivative use immunity"). Revoking his probation under those circumstances violated the constitution. See id. ¶ 27. He therefore asks this Court to reverse the revocation decision.

He offers the following in support.

II. THE DIVISION OF HEARINGS AND APPEALS ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN REVOKING DOUGLAS'S PROBATION FOR HIS REFUSAL TO GIVE A CUSTODIAL STATEMENT TO HIS AGENT WHERE HIS DECISION TO REMAIN SILENT RATHER THAN ANSWER INCRIMINATING QUESTIONS WAS A VALID EXERCISE OF HIS FIFTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS INSOFAR AS HIS AGENT DID NOT OFFER HIM IMMUNITY COEXTENSIVE WITH THOSE RIGHTS.

# A. This Court Reviews the Constitutionality of a Revocation Decision de Novo.

"On certiorari review of a probation revocation, this court reviews the [DHA]'s decision, not that of the trial court." *State ex rel. Greer v. Wiedenhoeft*, 2014 WI 19, ¶ 34, 353 Wis. 2d 307, 845 N.W.2d 373 (quotation and textual alteration omitted). Review of the propriety of a revocation decision is limited to four specific grounds, but only one of those grounds is relevant to the instant case: "whether [the DHA] acted according to the law" in ordering revocation. *Tate*, 2002 WI 127, ¶ 15.

Questions regarding the factual correctness of the DHA's findings are reviewed for substantial evidence. *George v. Schwarz*, 2001 WI App 72, ¶ 10, 242 Wis. 2d 450, 626 N.W.2d 57. However, "whether the [DHA] acted according to law . . . is a question of law that [appellate courts] review de novo, without deference to the conclusions of the [DHA] [or] the circuit court." *Tate*, 2002 WI 127, ¶ 16.

Douglas does not dispute the agency's factual findings; he contests only the legality of his revocation.

**B**. The Fifth Amendment Allows Probationers to Validly Assert the **Privilege Against Self-Incrimination** and not Suffer Revocation Unless Conferred Immunity Coextensive with the Privilege in Exchange for Their Compelled, Incriminating Statements.

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution reads in relevant part: "No person . . . shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." This privilege has been applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, and Wisconsin has its own equivalent privilege in article I, section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *State v. Peebles*, 2010 WI App 15, ¶ 10, 330 Wis.2d 243, 792 N.W.2d 212.

The privilege against self-incrimination is a fundamental constitutional right. Spaeth, 2012 WI 95,  $\P\P$  32-33 (recognizing that the privilege is "an important advancement in the development of our liberty" and "reflects many of our fundamental values" (quoted sources omitted)). "The essence of this basic constitutional principle is the requirement that the State which proposes to convict and punish an individual produce the evidence against him by the independent labor of its officers, not by the simple, cruel expedient of forcing it from his own lips." Peebles, 2010 WI App 156, ¶ 10 (quoting Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454, 462 (1981)). The privilege affords a person the right to remain silent until the choice to speak is made in the unfettered exercise of will with no possibility of penalty for refusing to speak. Id.

The privilege against self-incrimination is not diluted by the fact that the one forced to speak is on probation at the time a compelled, incriminating statement is demanded. *Minnesota v. Murphy*, 465 U.S. 420, 426 (1984). A probationer still enjoys the privilege against self-incrimination. *Evans*, 77 Wis. 2d at 230, 234-35, 252 N.W.2d at 666-68. Accordingly, a probationer cannot suffer the punishment of probation revocation for validly exercising the privilege against self-incrimination. *Tate*, 2002 WI 127, ¶ 22.

However, the ability to exercise the privilege against self-incrimination is in direct tension with the requirement that those on probation must answer truthfully when asked questions by their probation agents. Evans, 77 Wis. 2d at 231, 234-35, 252 N.W.2d 666-69 (recognizing the applicability of the Fifth Amendment to probationers, while also recognizing the importance of probationers to answer questions truthfully). The standard rules of supervision in Wisconsin's administrative code require offenders to (1) "[i]nform the agent of whereabouts and activities as directed," (2) "[s]ubmit a written offender report and any other relevant information as may be required," and (3) "[p]rovide true and correct information verbally and in writing as required by the department." DOC 328.04(3)(e), (f), (p). Pursuant to those provisions, probationers are compelled by law to give statements, despite their Fifth-Amendment right to remain silent. See id. As noted in Evans, a probationer's answers to his or her agent's questions prompted by accusations of criminal activity are "compelled," because the probationer's failure to speak may be grounds for revocation. Evans, 77 Wis. 2d at 231, 234-35, 252 N.W.2d at 666-68; (see also R.6:25; A.Ap. 12 (warning that failure to give truthful statement may result in revocation)).

As a result, a probationer may be compelled in certain circumstances to give a statement or risk revocation and potential imprisonment. *Evans*, 77 Wis. 2d at 231, 252 N.W.2d at 666-67. To resolve the tension between truthfulness and silence, and thereby ensure the effective administration of probation, Wisconsin has decided to force probationers to answer questions by granting them immunity in exchange for their statements. *Id.* at 234-35, 252 N.W.2d at 668-69. The government thus has a right to compel statements from probationers but to do so it must provide immunity appropriate to protect the Fifth Amendment privilege. *Id.* 235-36, 252 N.W.2d at 668-69. To appropriately protect a probationer's Fifth Amendment rights, the immunity granted must be coextensive with the privilege. *Kastigar*, 406 U.S. at 447-48; *Evans*, 77 Wis. 2d at 235, 252 N.W.2d at 668.

Both the United States Supreme Court and Wisconsin have recognized that immunity coextensive with the Fifth Amendment necessitates protections sufficient to render it as if the compelled speech had never occurred. Spaeth, 2012 WI 95, ¶ 36 (citing Kastigar, 406 U.S. at 453); Murphy v. Waterfront Comm. N.Y. Harbor, 378 U.S. 52, 54 (1964). Thus, the one compelled to speak must enjoy both use and derivative use immunity. Kastigar, 406 U.S. at 453.

For those reasons, the immunity sufficient to compel a probationer's statements despite an exercise of the Fifth Amendment must include not only use of the statements but derivative use. Spaeth, 2012 WI 95,  $\P$  36-37, citing Kastigar, 406 U.S. at 453. If a probationer is not conferred immunity coextensive with the privilege against self-incrimination—which includes both use and derivative use-then the government cannot revoke for the probationer's refusal to answer questions. Evans 77 Wis. 2d at 236, 252 N.W.2d at 669 (refusal to cooperate with probation agent cannot be grounds for revocation without a explanation regarding sufficient the immunity conferred); *Tate*, 2002 WI 127, ¶¶ 20, 22.

A probationer thus "cannot be subjected to probation revocation for refusing" to make compelled, incriminating statements "unless he is first offered the protection of use and derivative use immunity." *Tate*, 2002 WI 127, ¶ 4. To revoke in that situation would

violate the probationer's Fifth Amendment rights, and thus be contrary to law.

C. Insofar as Douglas was not Informed That any Evidence Derived From his Statements to his Probation Agent Would be Inadmissible in a Criminal Proceeding, the Immunity Offered to him was not Coextensive With his Fifth Amendment Rights and his Refusal to Answer Therefore Valid.

In the instant case, Douglas was on probation and was required to answer his probation's agent's questions truthfully or face revocation. (R.6:23-24); see also DOC §§ 328.04(3)(e), (f), (p). During Douglas's probation, the police alerted the DOC that he was allegedly involved in crimes that had occurred in Wisconsin and Illinois. (Id.:52; A.Ap. 3.) Based on that information, Douglas's probation agent visited him in jail and interviewed him specifically about his alleged criminal activity. (Id.:52, 90; A.Ap. 3.) She read Douglas the standard DOC statement form, thereby informing him that he had to answer questions or face revocation. (Id.:25, 52, 90-91; A.Ap. 3, 12).

In addition, Douglas's agent urged him to make a statement. (*Id*.:90-91.) She "stressed that none of it c[ould] be used in a criminal proceeding," and that "it couldn't be used in criminal court." (*Id*.) When she asked if Douglas would be willing to give a statement, he refused even though "[i]t seemed like he wanted to." (*Id*.:90.) Agent Kloss testified that Douglas seemed "a little nervous to sign [the statement form]." (*Id*.:91.)

These facts show that Douglas was clearly compelled to give an incriminating statement. He was faced with the classic penalty situation of either answering questions as required by his probation or exercising his privilege and facing revocation. *See Murphy*, 465 U.S. at 435. While *Evans* and its progeny hold that Douglas should have been offered use and derivative use immunity for his answers to his agent's compelling and potentially incriminating questions, the critical problem in the instant is that Douglas was not informed about derivative use immunity. As detailed above, only immunity coextensive with the Fifth Amendment privilege—which is inclusive of both use and derivative use immunity—is sufficient to protect a probationer's constitutional rights. However, in Douglas's case the agent's statements regarding immunity and the standard DOC form from which she read conferred only use immunity, not derivative use immunity.

First, the standard DOC form explains that the immunity Douglas would receive applies only to "this information," which obviously refers to the statements Douglas would then make to his probation agent. (R.6:25; A.Ap. 12.) But, of course, the Fifth Amendment is broader. It protects not only Douglas's statements, but anything derived from those statements. *See Spaeth*, 2012 WI 95, ¶¶ 36-37, *citing Kastigar*, 406 U.S. at 453.

Second, and equally problematic, is the failure to inform Douglas that the immunity to which he is entitled under the Fifth Amendment applied across jurisdictional lines. Relevantly, the standard DOC form's language reads that a probationer's statements cannot be used in "a criminal proceeding." (R.6:25; A.Ap. 12.) An essential hallmark of derivative use immunity is that its protections extend to other jurisdictions. See Waterfront Comm., 378 U.S. at 78-80 (holding that a state witness cannot be compelled to give testimony that could be used by federal authorities). That is particularly relevant in the instant case where some of the alleged criminal activity about which the agent sought to elicit information from Douglas occurred in Illinois. (R.6:52; A.Ap. 3.) The form's reference to "a criminal proceeding" does not explain that scope. Nor does it explain that information derived from Douglas's statements would be immunized from use by governmental authorities in another jurisdiction.

Where the agent was questioning Douglas about serious criminal offenses in which he was allegedly involved, an accurate explanation of his immunity was crucial. See Spaeth, 2012 WI 95, ¶ 6 (the form told the probationer that his statements could be used against him, which was not an accurate statement of the law). Of course, Douglas is not expected to know intuitively the protections he would receive from *Evans* and its progeny. Otherwise there would be no point in informing a probationer about his immunity at all. See *Evans*, 77 Wis. 2d at 236, 252 N.W.2d at 669 (relevant that the probationer was not informed). So, the relevant inquiry is whether the information provided by his agent at the time he is compelled to make a statement is sufficient to inform him about the immunity he would enjoy. See Tate, 2002 WI 127, ¶ 4 (a defendant cannot be subjected to probation revocation for refusing to admit to the crime of conviction, unless he is first offered the protection of use and derivative use immunity). Obviously, if an agent does not inform a probationer about the immunity to which he or she is entitled, the probationer cannot be faulted for refusing to answer questions. See Evans, 77 Wis. 2d at 236, 252 N.W.2d 669. Likewise, if an agent does not correctly explain to a probationer the scope of the immunity that he or she would receive, a probationer cannot be faulted for refusing to talk. See Spaeth, 2012 WI 95, ¶¶ 5-6 (probationer could not be faulted for making statements where he was not told an accurate statement of the law).

When Douglas refused to make a statement, his agent should have explained that even if he gave statement it would be as if he had remained silent because of his right to use and derivative use immunity. She did not. The deficiency in Agent Kloss's explanation to Douglas can be illustrated by reference to Wisconsin's immunity statute. See Wis. Stat. § 972.085 (immunity granted to persons in various proceedings). The express language of that statute explains that immunity protects the person from "the use of the compelled testimony or evidence in subsequent criminal or forfeiture proceedings, as well as immunity from the use of evidence derived from that compelled testimony or evidence." Id. Federal statutory law similarly informs a person claiming the privilege against self-incrimination that "no testimony or other information compelled under the order (or any information directly or indirectly derived from such testimony or other information) may be used." 18 U.S.C. § 6002.

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