# **RECEIVED**

03-31-2015

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP2977

STATE OF WISCONSIN EX REL. ROCKIE L. DOUGLAS,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

BRIAN HAYES, ADMINISTRATOR, DIVISION OF HEARINGS AND APPEALS AND EDWARD F. WALL, SECRETARY, DEPTARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, OFFICE OF LEGAL COUNSEL,

Respondents-Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM A NOVEMBER 4, 2014, CIRCUIT COURT ORDER DENYING A PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI, KENOSHA COUNTY CASE NO. 14-CV-705, THE HONORABLE DAVID BASTIANELLI, PRESIDING

# RESPONDENT BRIAN HAYES'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

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

# **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review.

This is a narrow review of a probation-revocation order. Douglas admits that this Court's review is limited to one area: whether the decision is in accordance with law. (Appellant's Br. 8); see also State ex rel. Tate v. Schwarz, 2002 WI 127, ¶ 15, 257 Wis. 2d 40, 654 N.W.2d 438. Whether the agency acted in accordance with law is reviewed de novo. Id. ¶ 16. On the issue of reviewing factual findings, that is not an issue since Douglas admits that he

does not contest any of the factual findings. (Appellant's Br. 8.)

# II. The Division of Hearings and Appeals was correct to revoke Douglas's probation for failure to answer questions.

The Division of Hearings and Appeals correctly revoked Douglas's probation because he was granted immunity yet refused to respond to questions. That was proper under established legal principles. "The absolute obligation to keep one's probation agent informed of one's whereabouts and activities when requested is the very essence of the system of probation." State v. Evans, 77 Wis. 2d 225, 231, 252 N.W.2d 664 (1977). The supreme court has recognized that "a parolee's responsibility to answer his agent's questions or face possible revocation if he does not is a price society has a right to exact for the privilege of conditional liberty." State ex rel. Struzik v. Dep't of Health & Soc. Servs., 77 Wis. 2d 216, 224, 252 N.W.2d 660 (1977).

In *State v. Evans*, the supreme court held that a probationer may be compelled to provide a statement, even if that statement is incriminating. 77 Wis. 2d at 235-36. Because a probationer still has a right against self-incrimination, *Schwarz*, 257 Wis. 2d 40, ¶ 51, the probationer must be granted an "immunity that renders the compelled testimony inadmissible against the witness in a

criminal prosecution." *Evans*, 77 Wis. 2d at 235. The court in *Evans* established the following rule:

In order to guarantee the fifth amendment rights of a probationer or a parolee and at the same time to preserve the integrity of the probation system, we hold that upon timely objection in criminal proceedings, the testimony of a probationer or a parolee given in response to questions by a probation or parole agent or at a probation or parole revocation hearing, which questions are prompted by pending charges or accusations of particular criminal activity, . . . or any evidence derived from such testimony, is inadmissible . . . .

Id.

In a later case, State v. Thompson, the court of appeals Evans explained that this immunity automatically prevents "the state from making any evidentiary use whatever in [] criminal proceedings" of statements made to a probation officer. 142 Wis. 2d 821, 833, 419 N.W.2d 564 (Ct. App. 1987). A probationer is not required to answer questions "unless he was offered immunity as described in Evans." State v. Spaeth, 2012 WI 95, ¶ 56, 343 Wis. 2d 220, 819 N.W.2d 769. But if a probationer refuses to answer questions despite "a grant of immunity, his or her probation may be revoked on that basis." State v. Peebles, 2010 WI App 156, ¶ 19, 330 Wis. 2d 243, 792 N.W.2d 212.

In this case, the undisputed factual record indicates that Douglas was granted immunity. The form memorializing his conversation with Agent Kloss states: "I have also been advised that none of this information can be used against me in criminal proceedings." (R. 6:25.) Agent

Kloss later testified that she "stressed that none of it [his answers] can be used in a criminal proceeding." (R. 6:90.) Agent Kloss responded to further questions as follows:

- Q Did you stress that nothing he said would be used against him criminally?
- A Right. I explained that it couldn't be used in criminal court.

(R. 6:91.)

In response to this uncontroverted evidence, Douglas argues that this grant of immunity was not sufficiently detailed. In his brief, Douglas explains that there is a difference between "use and derivative use immunity" and states that "Douglas was not informed about derivative use immunity." (Appellant's Br. 13.)

No case holds that a probation officer must explain the details of derivative-use immunity to a probationer before questioning. To the contrary, cases establishing this immunity requirement suggest only general language:

- In *Evans*, the supreme court said that the probationer should have been "made aware that any statements he made could not be used against him in a subsequent criminal proceeding arising out of the same fact situation." 77 Wis. 2d at 236.
- In *State v. Sahs*, the supreme court reiterated that a probationer may be compelled to answer questions "if he is advised that his responses could not be used against him in a subsequent criminal proceeding

arising out of the same fact situation." 2013 WI 51,  $\P$  101, 347 Wis. 2d 641, 832 N.W.2d 80 (internal quotations omitted).

• In *Peebles*, the court of appeals stated that "the probationer must first be granted immunity prohibiting the information's use in any criminal proceedings." 330 Wis. 2d 243, ¶ 16.

The exact immunity granted in Douglas's case was consistent with the language from these decisions: "I have also been advised that none of this information can be used against me in criminal proceedings." (R. 6:25.) No case describing the required grant of immunity suggests that a probation officer must explain derivative-use immunity, or anything other than the fact that the information supplied by the probationer cannot be used in future criminal proceedings.

Additionally, nothing in this case suggests that the DOC form or Agent Kloss's statements granted anything less than full immunity consistent with the Fifth Amendment. Douglas claims that the phrase "this information" only refers to the statements made. (Appellant's Br. 13.) But this is not a common-sense reading of the phrase. "This information" can apply both to the exact statements made as well as the information contained in the statements. If the probation officer's intent was otherwise, then she would have said "the statements you make cannot be used against you in future

criminal proceedings" not "this information [cannot be used]."

Douglas seeks to impose a level of detail and exactitude upon probation agents that is not imposed upon police officers when dealing with similar rights. For example, *Miranda* warnings need not be conveyed by "talismanic incantation," *California v. Prysock*, 453 U.S. 355, 359 (1981); rather, an officer's statements must only be understood to mean that the suspect has the right to remain silent; that anything the suspect says can be used against him in a court of law; that the suspect has the right to have a lawyer present; and that if the suspect cannot afford an attorney, an attorney will be appointed for him. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 478–79 (1966).

No court holds that for a *Miranda* warning to be sufficient, the officer must convey the full details of the right to an attorney or right to remain silent. For example, the *Miranda* warning does not have to specifically indicate that a suspect in custody may invoke the right to an attorney before the interrogation, during the interrogation, and before

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Douglas also claims that "a criminal proceeding" is ambiguous and might only apply to a Wisconsin proceeding. Defendant cites no case holding that an *Evans* warning must describe all the different potential venues of criminal proceedings.

any subsequent interrogation.<sup>2</sup> Also, a *Miranda* warning is not required to indicate that "at any time prior to or during questioning, that [if the suspect] wishes to remain silent, the interrogation must cease." *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 479 (indicating the procedure after the warning, not the specific words of the warning). But under Douglas's theory, the basic *Miranda* warning would be unconstitutionally defective because it fails to fully describe the right to an attorney and right to remain silent.

In Wisconsin, the court of appeals has actually decided a case involving the exact immunity provided by the DOC form. In *State v. Brimer*, the defendant was on probation when he was arrested for cocaine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See, e.g., Grennier v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 204, 213, 234 N.W.2d 316 (1975) (internal quotations omitted). This case holds that the following warning was sufficient:

Before being asked any questions, you must understand your constitutional rights. You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used against you in court. You have the right to talk to a lawyer for advice before we ask you any questions, and have him present with you during questioning. We have no way of giving you a lawyer if you cannot afford one, but one may be appointed for you, if you wish, if and when you go to court. If you wish to answer questions now without a lawyer present, you have the right to stop answering questions at any time.

possession. 324 Wis. 2d 408. While in jail, his probation officer visited him and provided him with the "standard Department of Corrections form, which includes the direction: . . . I have also been advised that none of this used information be against in can me criminal proceedings." Id. ¶ 2 (internal quotations omitted). After receiving the immunity granted by the DOC form, the defendant admitted in writing to using and selling cocaine. *Id.* The defendant's probation was consequently revoked. *Id.* 

On appeal, the defendant argued that "using this statement violated his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination." Id. ¶¶ 3-4. In affirming the revocation, the court of appeals explained that the State may "validly insist on answers to even incriminating questions . . . as long as it recognizes that the required answers may not be used in a criminal proceeding and thus eliminates the threat of incrimination." Id. ¶ 13 (internal quotation omitted). The court then concluded that the DOC form "immunized him against using the statement in criminal proceedings." Id. Therefore, according to the court, "there was no Fifth Amendment violation and Brimer's attorney was not deficient for failing to object to using the statement at the reconfinement hearing." Id.

In *Brimer*, the court of appeals has already decided that the DOC form provides the immunity required by the Fifth Amendment. Although the facts here are different (the *Brimer* defendant confessed, and in this case, Douglas did not), the principle is the same: the Fifth Amendment is not violated if a probationer is given the standard immunity as provided by the DOC form or the similar warnings given by Agent Kloss.

# CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the decision of the circuit court and hold that *Evans* is satisfied so long as the probationer is informed that the information provided cannot be used in criminal proceedings. Because the DOC form provides an accurate, albeit simplified, recitation of rights, it is sufficient to convey this immunity before questioning a probationer in custody. Agent Kloss's statements further bolster this grant of immunity.

Because Douglas was sufficiently immunized before Agent Kloss's questioning, and he failed to answer questions, it was appropriate for the Division of Hearings and Appeals to revoke his probation.